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The History of Osan Air Base
Osan Air Base is named after a town in the Republic of Korea. The base is located 4.7 miles southwest of that town and 40 miles south of Seoul, the capital city. Prior to the invasion of the Republic of Korea by the North Korean communists in 1950, the area consisted of four tiny farming villages near the hillsides and a large number of rice paddy areas where the runway now lies. The villages moved to make room for the base were Jeuk-Bong-Ri, Chang-Deung-ri, Shin-Ya-Ri and Ya-Ri. A large ginkgo tree in the village square of one of these villages still stands on a hill in the base golf course. Osan Air Base is also the site of the first U.S. Army company-strength bayonet charge since World War I, an event that occurred on February 7, 1951. As part of a larger force charged with clearing the Republic of Korea of all communist troops south of Seoul, Army Captain Lewis L. Millett and his soldiers charged the communist Chinese forces holding Hill 180. That hill dominates present day Osan Air Base. For his heroic actions, Captain Millett received the Medal of Honor.
The base was originally named Osan-Ni Air Base (with the alpha-numerical designation of K-55) when established in November 1951. The first base commander chose the name Osan-Ni because it was the only village shown on military maps in the region and it was easy to pronounce. The word "Osan" means Crow Hill. Osan Air Base is one of two major airfields operated by the United States in Korea and the only USAF facility within the Republic of Korea built during the Korean conflict. The ROK government allowed the U.S. Air Force to purchase 1,250 acres in 1952 to expand the base. Base construction began in earnest in August 1952, involving elements of the 839th, 841st, and 417th Engineer Aviation Battalions. Osan’s first operational units arrived in December 1952 shortly after the November 1952 completion of a 9,000-foot runway. This included advanced elements of the 18th Fighter-Bomber Wing, which conducted air operations at Osan-Ni Air Base in support of United Nations ground forces during the Korean War. 
A fifth (unnamed) Korean village was relocated in 1953 to enlarge the compound area for Headquarters, Fifth Air Force, which maintained an advanced headquarters until the arrival of the 314th Air Division in November 1954. The base was redesignated Osan Air Base in September 1956. Following the war, Osan Air Base transitioned to standby status and hosted only temporary duty or transient units involved in Pacific Air Forces tactical operations. During that time most facilities fell into disrepair. Concrete surfaces were restored in 1957 and total renovation projects were completed in 1958 when the base became a permanent peacetime installation. 
A number of base upgrades and projects were completed at Osan in the late 1960s. A new control tower was completed on January 5, 1966, and by February 1966 a complete array of fencing, alarms, and security systems were installed in an attempt to thwart thievery. Additionally, spectrometric oil analysis labs were completed in 1967. The seizure of the USS Pueblo by North Korea precipitated an increase in forces at Osan, including the arrival of 6,500,000 lbs of cargo and 1,000 additional personnel from January to March of 1968. A new base operations building was completed January 15, 1970, and the main runway completely rehabilitated in 1971. The 51st Air Base Wing (later redesignated 51st Fighter Wing) relocated from Naha Air Base, Okinawa, to Osan Air Base on November 1, 1971, and assumed host responsibilities for all units and sites. 
A new and modernized base headquarters complex and additional dormitories were completed in early 1974. This was followed immediately by base-wide housing and dormitory construction projects between 1974-1975. The addition of 26 aircraft shelters and revetments anticipating the arrival of F-111, F-15, and A-10 aircraft were completed between 1977-1979. An airfield taxi and runway overhaul project concluded in 1978, followed by the renovation and reopening of the tactical air control center in 1981. On September 8, 1986, Seventh Air Force activated at Osan Air Base, replacing the 314th Air Division. 
A community that gradually formed outside the main gate of Osan Air Base in the 1950s, and dubbed Chicol (mud) Village, underwent rapid growth and economic development in the 1970s. It officially became Songtan City on July 1, 1981. On May 10, 1995, Songtan merged with the nearby larger city of Pyongtaek. 


Produced by the 51st Fighter Wing History Office (June 2004)

_1158477360.bin

